

King Saud University

Saudi Journal of Ophthalmology

www.saudiophthaljournal.com www.ksu.edu.sa www.sciencedirect.com



DIABETIC RETINOPATHY UPDATE

Predicting visual outcomes for macular disease using optical coherence tomography

Pearse A. Keane, MRCOphth, MSc^a, Srinivas R. Sadda, MD^{b,*}

 ^a NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Ophthalmology, Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and UCL Institute of Ophthalmology, United Kingdom
^b Doheny Eye Institute, Keck School of Medicine of the University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, USA

Received 17 January 2011; accepted 21 January 2011 Available online 26 January 2011

KEYWORDS

ELSEVIER

Optical coherence tomography; Surrogate endpoints; Visual acuity; Contrast sensitivity; Microperimetry; **Abstract** In recent years, the management of macular disease has undergone radical changes, in part because of new therapeutic approaches, but also due to the introduction of a new imaging modality – optical coherence tomography (OCT). The application of OCT imaging has clarified many aspects of chorioretinal disease pathophysiology and elucidated many hitherto unrecognized disease characteristics. From an early stage in its development, OCT has also been revolutionary in attempting to extract clinically useful measurements from image data in an automated fashion. As a

Abbreviations: ETDRS, Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study; MPS, Macular Photocoagulation Study; AMD, age-related macular degeneration; OCT, optical coherence tomography; logMAR, logarithm of the minimum angle of resolution; RPE, retinal pigment epithelium; CNV, choroidal neovascularization; ELM, external limiting membrane; IS–OS, inner segment–outer segment; PED, pigment epithelium detachment; CME, cystoid macular edema; ERM, epiretinal membrane; DME, diabetic macular edema; CRVO, central retinal vein occlusion; BRVO, branch retinal vein occlusion; CSC, central serous chorioretinopathy; GA, geographic atrophy.

* Corresponding author. Address: Doheny Eye Institute – DEI 3623, 1450 San Pablo Street, Los Angeles, CA 90033, USA. Tel.: +1 323 442 6503.

E-mail address: ssadda@doheny.org (S.R. Sadda).

 $1319\text{-}4534 \ensuremath{\,\odot\)}$ 2011 King Saud University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University. doi:10.1016/j.sjopt.2011.01.003

Production and hosting by Elsevier

Age-related macular degeneration; Diabetic macular edema; Central serous chorioretinopathy; Geographic atrophy result, OCT-derived measurements of retinal thickness have been rapidly embraced in clinical and research settings. However, as knowledge of OCT image analysis has developed, it has become increasingly clear that even accurate measurements of retinal thickness may fail to predict visual outcomes for many diseases. As a result, the focus of much current clinical imaging research is on the identification of other OCT-derived anatomic biomarkers predictive of visual outcomes – such biomarkers could serve as surrogate endpoints in clinical trials and provide prognostic information in clinical practice. In this review, we begin by highlighting the importance of accurate visual function assessment and describing the fundamentals of OCT image evaluation, before describing the current state-of-the-art with regard to predicting visual outcomes, for a variety of macular diseases, using OCT.

© 2011 King Saud University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	146
2.	Visual function	147
	2.1. Visual acuity	147
	2.2. Reading speed and contrast sensitivity	147
	2.3. Microperimetry.	148
3.	Optical coherence tomography	148
	3.1. Qualitative analysis of OCT images in "Normal" eyes	148
	3.2. Quantitative OCT image analysis	148
4.	Neovascular age-related macular degeneration	149
	4.1. Neurosensory retina	149
	4.2. Pigment epithelium detachment	150
	4.3. Subretinal hyperreflective material	150
	4.4. Subretinal fluid	150
	4.5. Vitreomacular interface abnormalities	150
5.	Retinal vascular disease	151
	5.1. Diabetic maculopathy	151
	5.2. Retinal vein occlusion	152
	5.3. Uveitic syndromes.	152
6.	Central serous chorioretinopathy	152
7.	Non-neovascular age-related macular degeneration.	153
8.	Conclusion	153
	Disclosure	153
	References	153

1. Introduction

The advent of fundus fluorescein angiography in the 1960s heralded a revolution in our understanding of macular diseases, with the insights afforded by such imaging providing the basis for the development and application of many new therapeutic approaches (Keane and Sadda, 2010). At the same time, advances in color photography led to the acquisition of fundus images with enhanced resolution, stereopsis, and field of view, allowing medical retina specialists to segregate the retinal from the choroidal circulations and to isolate anatomic compartments within the fundus (Yannuzzi et al., 2004). Thus, fluorescein angiography and stereoscopic color fundus photography came to form the fundamental basis for the care of patients with macular disease and were quickly incorporated into related clinical trials. In these trials, photographic and angiographic derived parameters were adopted as anatomic endpoints, with the information providing helping to optimize many new therapeutic approaches (Fine, 2005). For example, in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) color photography was used to define a subset of patients with diabetic maculopathy who were likely to benefit from laser photocoagulation (Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group, 1985); and in the Macular Photocoagulation Study (MPS) the importance of recognizing "classic" and "occult" patterns of fluorescein leakage was identified in patients receiving treatment for neovascular age-related macular degeneration (AMD) (Macular Photocoagulation Study Group, 1996).

More recently, evaluation of macular disease has undergone a further revolution, with the introduction of a wholly new imaging modality – optical coherence tomography (OCT) (Keane and Sadda, 2008). OCT is analogous to ultrasonography, but utilizes light waves instead of sound waves, thus providing cross-sectional images of the retina with unprecedented detail and resolution, and in a non-invasive manner (Drexler and Fujimoto, 2008; Schuman et al., 2004). The application of this imaging modality by medical retina specialists has clarified many aspects of chorioretinal disease pathophysiology and elucidated many hitherto unrecognized disease characteristics (Keane and Sadda, 2010). From an early stage in its development, OCT has also been revolutionary in attempting to extract clinically useful measurements from image data in an automated fashion (Hee et al., 1995a,b). As a result, OCT-derived measurements of retinal thickness have been rapidly embraced in clinical and research settings (Hee et al., 1998; Brown and Regillo, 2007; Keane et al., 2009a; Keane and Sadda, 2009).

In clinical imaging research, much of the focus has been on the identification of novel OCT-derived anatomic biomarkers for use in clinical trials and subsequently in clinical practice (Ahlers et al., 2008a,b; Keane et al., 2008a,b; Kiss et al., 2009). In clinical trials, such biomarkers may provide valuable information regarding therapeutic mechanisms of action, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacokinetics (Keane et al., 2008b). They may be of most value, however, when they can serve as surrogate endpoints - endpoints that are reasonably likely, based on epidemiologic, therapeutic, pathophysiologic, or other evidence, to predict clinical benefit (Csaky et al., 2008; Duivenvoorden et al., 2009). If, and when, these criteria are fulfilled, OCT-derived morphologic parameters could be employed to increase the accuracy, reduce the costs, and potentially shorten the duration of clinical trials (Csaky et al., 2008; Lloyd et al., 2008). Similarly, in clinical practice, such parameters could extend the application of OCT imaging beyond simple diagnosis and toward prognosis. With the rapid evolution of new treatments for macular disease (Zarbin and Rosenfeld, 2010), such prognostic information may be crucial for the clinician in choosing the appropriate type and level of treatment, as well as for appropriate counseling of patients. Therefore, the importance of predicting visual outcomes for macular disease using OCT imaging is clear. Unfortunately however, many studies using OCT-derived measurements of retinal thickness have failed to find consistent correlations with visual outcomes (Moutray et al., 2008; Spaide et al., 2006). These failures may be related, at least in part, to the significant errors that are known to occur in automated retinal thickness measurements for many macular diseases (Sadda et al., 2006; Keane et al., 2009b). As our knowledge of OCT image analysis has grown, however, it has become progressively clear that even accurate measurements of retinal thickness may fail to predict visual outcomes, and that further progress may be dependent on the discovery of other, more novel, OCT-derived morphologic parameters (Keane et al., 2008a). It is also increasingly clear that prediction of visual outcomes will be dependent on accurate assessment of visual function - an area where significant advances have also been made (Keane et al., 2010a).

In this review, we begin by highlighting the importance of accurate visual function assessment and describing the fundamentals of OCT image evaluation, before describing the current state-of-the-art with regard to predicting visual outcomes, for a variety of macular diseases, using OCT imaging.

2. Visual function

2.1. Visual acuity

Visual acuity is a measure of the spatial resolving ability of the visual system under conditions of high contrast (Neelam et al.,

2009). Both in clinical practice and in clinical research, distance visual acuity is the most frequently used test of visual function (Holladay, 2004). In clinical practice, distance visual acuity is most commonly assessed using Snellen optotype test charts, first introduced by Herbert Snellen in 1862 (an optotype is a standardized symbol for testing vision and can be a specially shaped letter, number, or geometric symbol). Snellen visual acuities express the angular size of an optotype as a fraction, with the numerator specifying the test distance, and the denominator specifying the line read. However, the limitations of Snellen test charts are well established, and include an unequal legibility of letters, unequal spacing between letters and rows, and an unequal progression of difficulty between lines (Neelam et al., 2009; Hogg and Chakravarthy, 2006). These flaws result in many clinical problems, such as inaccurate measurement of visual acuity in children with amblyopia as a result of crowding phenomena, and limited assessment of visual acuity in patients with low vision in disorders such as advanced AMD (Falkenstein et al., 2007). Furthermore, the test-retest variability using Snellen charts has proven low, and many statistical analyses are not possible using visual acuities expressed as Snellen fractions (Lovie-Kitchin, 1988).

The limitations of Snellen visual acuity charts led to the development of "logMAR" (logarithm of the minimum angle of resolution) charts by Bailey and Lovie (1976). The major advantages of these charts include the regular geometric progression of letter size and spacing (following a logarithmic scale in steps of 0.1 log units), the equal number of letters in each row (five), and the comparable legibility of the five Sloan optotypes used. As a result, the logMAR charts used for the ETDRS study have emerged as the test-of-choice for measuring distance visual acuity in vision research. Despite their superiority, logMAR charts have not replaced Snellen charts in clinical practice. It is perhaps not surprising, then, that many retrospective clinical studies have failed to predict visual outcomes using OCT-derived parameters (Moutray et al., 2008).

2.2. Reading speed and contrast sensitivity

Distance visual acuity is largely a function of foveal integrity, i.e. it measures the central $1-2^{\circ}$ of visual field (although extrafoveal fixation may sometimes occur in patients with macular disease) (Moutray et al., 2008). Therefore, the assessment of other visual parameters, such as contrast sensitivity and reading speed, may better reflect macular integrity as a whole, and thus provide stronger correlations with OCT-derived morphologic parameters (Keane et al., 2010a).

As distance visual acuity is measured in conditions of high contrast, some patients with macular disease may have nearnormal distance visual acuity measurements, yet have significantly decreased contrast sensitivities (Arditi, 2005; Monés and Rubin, 2005; Patel et al., 2009a). This distinction is of functional importance – contrast sensitivity has been closely linked with both orientation and mobility and thus may provide valuable additional information regarding functional status in patients with macular disease (Arditi, 2005). In most clinical trials, contrast sensitivity is measured using Pelli-Robinson charts and such measurements have been also found to be highly predictive of reading performance (Neelam et al., 2009). Word reading is a complex process that requires a variety of component processes, such as letter and word resolution, stability of retinal images, saccadic accuracy, and accurate cognitive processing (Neelam et al., 2009). While reading speed cannot be determined accurately in illiterate patients, and is often impaired due to non-visual factors (Elliott et al., 2001), it is minimally affected by media opacities such as cataract (Elliott et al., 2000), and is strongly associated with vision-related quality of life (Hazel et al., 2000). Thus, as new treatments continue to emerge for previously intractable macular disorders, assessment of both contrast sensitivity and reading ability may attain a position of increased importance for medical retina specialists in clinical settings and as a secondary endpoint in clinical trials (Csaky et al., 2008).

2.3. Microperimetry

While distance visual acuity is the most widely used measure of visual function in macular disease, an alternative approach is to measure paracentral retinal sensitivity using perimetry (Rohrschneider et al., 2008). So-called "microperimetry" allows direct, real-time evaluation of retinal fixation and macular sensitivity, and thus accurate comparison of fundus characteristics versus function in macular disease (Midena et al., 2007, 2010). Currently, the most commonly used microperimeter is the MP1 microperimeter (Nidek Technology, Gamagori, Japan) - this device allows the examiner to conduct automated static perimetry, while the use of a built-in infrared camera allows the instrument to track the patient's eye movements and present the stimuli at exact, predefined, retinal foci (Midena et al., 2010; Weingessel et al., 2009). Recent studies have overlaid microperimetric sensitivity maps with dense OCT raster scan datasets through the registration of color fundus photographs obtained with both devices - such an approach has allowed a systematic correlation between OCTderived morphologic parameters and functional alterations in disorders such as diabetic maculopathy (Deák et al., 2010b). In addition, microperimetry is increasingly being incorporated into clinical trials, however, advances in image registration, eve tracker technology, and testing strategies, are still required to reduce the test-retest variability of these devices (Chen et al., 2009).

3. Optical coherence tomography

OCT, first described by Huang et al. (1991), allows highresolution tomographic (cross-sectional) images of the neurosensory retina to be obtained in a non-invasive manner (Keane and Sadda, 2008). Commercially available OCT systems are now capable of obtaining retinal images with an axial resolution of approximately $3-8 \,\mu\text{m}$, and a transverse resolution of approximately $14-20 \,\mu\text{m}$ (Kiernan et al., 2010).

3.1. Qualitative analysis of OCT images in "Normal" eyes

Light waves traveling through tissue can be reflected, scattered, or absorbed at each tissue interface – as a result, the multilayered structure of the retina is particularly amenable to assessment using OCT (Schuman et al., 2004). However, care must be taken when making assumptions about the correlation between OCT images and retinal histological sections – the strength of backscattered light is related to its angle of incidence on the area of interest. Therefore, structures running obliquely in the retina, such as Henle fiber layer, are often not well visualized on standard OCT images (Lujan et al., 2010; Otani et al., 2010).

On OCT false-color B-scans, highly reflective tissue is reddish-white in color, while hyporeflective tissue is blue-black in color (Schuman et al., 2004; Brar et al., 2009b). On most OCT scans, the first hyperreflective layer detected is the internal limiting membrane (ILM) at the vitreoretinal interface. In a subset of the population, the posterior hyaloid may be seen as a thin hyperreflective layer above the ILM. Within the retina, the ganglion cell layer and both the inner and outer plexiform layers are seen as hyperreflective layers while the inner and outer nuclear layers are hyporeflective. Recent studies have also shown that, by varying the measurement beam, two aspects of the outer plexiform layer may be alternately seen: (1) a thin hyperreflective layer corresponding to the photoreceptor synapses, and (2) a thicker hyperreflective layer corresponding to photoreceptor axonal extensions (Henle fiber layer) enveloped by the outer cytoplasm of Muller cells (Lujan et al., 2010; Otani et al., 2010).

Correlation of OCT images with the microstructure of the outer retina is less well defined than that of the inner retina (Srinivasan et al., 2008; Gloesmann et al., 2003). The first continuous hyperreflective line typically seen in the outer retina is believed to correspond to the junction of the inner and outer segments of the photoreceptors (IS-OS junction). A faint, less continuous hyperreflective line may be present above this line and is thought to represent the external limiting membrane (ELM). Beneath the IS-OS junction, the interdigitations of the photoreceptor outer segments and apical microvilli of the RPE may be visible with high-resolution OCT systems. Finally, a wide, hyperreflective line corresponding to the RPE-Bruch membrane-choriocapillaris complex lies at the outermost extent of these tissue layers. With newer OCT devices, using specific scanning protocols, visualization of choroidal structure, and the choroidal-scleral junction, is also possible (Spaide et al., 2008).

3.2. Quantitative OCT image analysis

The high axial resolution offered by OCT is well suited to the objective, accurate measurement of retinal thickness (Hee et al., 1995b). Stratus OCT (Carl Zeiss Meditec, Dublin, CA), the first widely adopted commercial OCT system, uses image processing techniques to automatically detect the inner and outer retinal boundaries on OCT B-scans (segmentation) and thus provides measurements of retinal thickness (Schuman et al., 2004). Using these techniques, it is possible to measure retinal thickness at multiple locations and to construct retinal thickness maps corresponding to the ETDRS subfields (Hee et al., 1998). Caution is required, however, as errors in automated measurements are known to occur, and these errors are often severe in macular disorders with complex morphology such as neovascular AMD (Sadda et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2009b). Newer OCT systems offer considerably improved image acquisition speed, as well as improved sensitivity and axial resolution. These changes have facilitated improved accuracy in retinal segmentation; however, further improvements in image processing algorithms are still required before segmentation errors can be eliminated entirely, particularly for disorders such as neovascular AMD (Keane et al., 2009b; Krebs et al., 2009).

4. Neovascular age-related macular degeneration

AMD is the leading cause of irreversible visual loss in elderly populations in the developed world, the majority of which is attributable to the neovascular form of this disorder (Klein et al., 2011). Currently, severe visual loss can be prevented in most patients with neovascular AMD through the use of anti-angiogenic agents such as ranibizumab or bevacizumab (Lucentis and Avastin, respectively, Genentech, South San Francisco, CA) (Tufail et al., 2010; Rosenfeld et al., 2006; Brown et al., 2006). However, these therapies typically only result in significant visual improvement for about one-third of those treated. Furthermore, at presentation many patients have advanced disease that ultimately proves refractory to therapy (Rosenfeld et al., 2010). Anti-angiogenic therapy is also costly and requires frequent intraocular injections over extended time periods (Smiddy, 2009). Prediction of visual outcomes from OCT images, and identification of those patients likely to respond to these and other treatments, thus represents a significant and unmet clinical need.

The complex morphology of neovascular AMD presents a number of unique challenges for the prediction of visual outcomes from OCT. In neovascular AMD, abnormal blood vessels develop from the choroidal circulation, pass anteriorly, and proliferate in the subretinal pigment epithelium (RPE) or subretinal space (Grossniklaus and Green, 2004). The resulting hemorrhage, fluid exudation, and ultimately fibrosis, of these vessels typically results in severe visual loss, particularly if left untreated. The prototypical feature of neovascular AMD choroidal neovascularization (CNV) - thus results in a wide range of alterations in chorioretinal morphology, with intraretinal, subretinal, and sub-RPE components of differing sizes and locations relative to the fovea. CNV occurs in many disorders other than neovascular AMD, albeit less commonly (e.g. pathologic myopia, trauma, and miscellaneous ocular inflammatory disorders) (Grossniklaus and Green, 2004). While some variation is likely, the insights provided by the characterization of neovascular AMD using OCT may also be useful for the management of patients with CNV of other etiologies.

4.1. Neurosensory retina

Invasion and proliferation of the CNV lesion results in significant degradation and remodeling of the retinal extracellular space, as well as the incursion of cellular components such as fibroblasts (Grossniklaus and Green, 2004). The resultant disruption of the ELM-photoreceptor complex in the outer retina often leads to accumulation of fluid in the neurosensory retina (Gass, 1997). Thus, thickening of the neurosensory retina is a common feature in patients with neovascular AMD (Keane et al., 2008b, 2009c). Despite this, many studies have failed to find a significant correlation between increases in retinal thickness and decreases in visual function (Moutray et al., 2008; Spaide et al., 2006). This failure may be related, at least in part, to the frequency inaccuracy of automated retinal boundary segmentation in patients with neovascular AMD (Keane et al., 2009a; Patel et al., 2009b). In an effort to reduce these errors, manual segmentation of OCT images can be performed; studies using this approach have successfully demonstrated significant correlations between retinal thickness and visual function (Keane et al., 2008a, 2009c). In subjects enrolled in the Avastin (Bevacizumab) for Choroidal Neovascularization (ABC) Trial, prior to treatment, increased retinal thickness at the foveal center was significantly associated with decreased visual function – approximately 20% of the variation in ETDRS visual acuity seen in these patients could be explained by thickening of the neurosensory retina (Keane et al., 2010a).

Many studies have also failed to detect a significant correlation between reductions in retinal thickness as a result of treatment and associated improvements in visual acuity (Spaide et al., 2006). However, there is evidence, from the PrONTO study, to suggest that reduction in retinal thickness at 1 month following initiation of ranibizumab therapy may show a modest correlation with longer-term visual outcomes (i.e. visual acuity at 12 and 24 months post-treatment initiation) (Fung et al., 2007; Lalwani et al., 2009). Stronger longitudinal correlations have again been found using manual segmentation of OCT images; one such study, while failing to detect associations between reduced retinal thickness and improved visual acuity, has demonstrated that "regression" of initial anatomic improvements over time may be associated with longer-term visual loss (Keane et al., 2009c). Such findings may have implications for OCT-derived dosing regimens where increased intraretinal fluid acts as a trigger for retreatment - the fluctuations in retinal thickness that can occur in such regimes may have an adverse effect on the ultimate visual outcome (Mitchell et al., 2010).

Failure to detect a stronger correlation between thickness of the neurosensory retina and visual outcomes may be related to the heterogeneous structural characteristics of this disorder retinal thickening is often less marked in lesions where CNV growth is contained entirely beneath the RPE (type 1 CNV) (Keane et al., 2008a; Liakopoulos et al., 2008). Moreover, choroidal neovascular exudation may result in varying patterns of intraretinal fluid collection on OCT. Initially, intraretinal fluid may be seen as diffuse retinal thickening beginning in the outer nuclear and outer plexiform layers: subsequently, with more severe exudation, cystoid spaces may form. These spaces may be seen on OCT as round or oval hyporeflective areas, with larger spaces often containing tissue septa and involving all layers of the retina (Ting et al., 2002). In disorders such as diabetic maculopathy (see later), the presence of cystoid macular edema (CME) is often associated with more severely reduced visual acuity than diffuse retinal thickening alone (Keane and Sadda, 2009). In addition, it has been suggested that, in neovascular AMD, the presence of cystoid changes may mask the presence of retinal neuronal cell loss (Kashani et al., 2009). To account for these possibilities, quantification of cystoid spaces is possible using manual segmentation of OCT images. However, using this approach, Kashani et al. failed to detect a significant relationship between cystoid space volume and visual acuity and failed to improve the strength of retinal thickness-visual acuity correlation through adjustment for intraretinal cystoid space thickness (Kashani et al., 2009).

A number of other features associated with intraretinal fluid exudation have been described in patients with neovascular AMD. In some patients with chronic exudation, irreparable structural changes may occur and, as a result, cystoid spaces may persist even in the absence of leakage; such changes are often described as "cystoid macular degeneration" (Iida et al., 2003). Furthermore, when monitoring patients following treatment for neovascular AMD, the recurrence of intraretinal fluid must be differentiated from that of "outer retinal tubulation" – a recently described OCT finding (Zweifel et al., 2009). Outer retinal tubulations are branching tubular structures that appear as round or ovoid hyporeflective spaces with hyperreflective borders in the outer nuclear layer (commonly overlying areas of pigment epithelium detachment (PED) or subretinal fibrosis). They are most commonly seen in patients with neovascular AMD, but may also be seen in other disorders. Outer retinal tubulations may represent a rearrangement of photoreceptors in response to injury – their association with visual outcomes has yet to be examined.

Failure to detect a strong correlation between thickness of the neurosensory retina, and visual outcomes, may also be related to the disease state at examination - more advanced lesions may be associated with substantial photoreceptor degeneration, thus complicating any analyses (Kim et al., 2002a). Furthermore, in some patients, geographic atrophy (GA) - and thus reduced retinal thickness - may predate the occurrence of CNV (Kim et al., 2002b; Sunness, 1999, 2006). In an attempt to address this, Kashani et al. evaluated the relationship between visual acuity and the thickness and volume of the outer nuclear layer in patients with neovascular AMD (Kashani et al., 2009). In this study, outer nuclear layer volume was correlated with visual acuity, although the strength of the association remained modest. Photoreceptor degeneration is also believed to be visible on OCT images as disruption of the thin hyperreflective lines in the outer retina that are thought to represent the ELM and photoreceptor IS-OS junctions (Hayashi et al., 2009; Oishi et al., 2010; Sayanagi et al., 2009). In patients with neovascular AMD, the ELM and IS-OS junction are often seen to be intact on OCT images in those patients who have responded well to therapy - the role of these parameters as prognostic indicators in neovascular AMD remains less clear.

4.2. Pigment epithelium detachment

Growth of the choroidal neovascular membrane in the sub-RPE space produces an elevated lesion visible on clinical examination, termed a fibrovascular PED; this growth is often accompanied by variable amounts of fluid leakage or frank hemorrhage (when either of these predominate the lesion is often described as a serous or hemorrhagic PED) (Macular Photocoagulation Study Group, 1991). On OCT examination, PEDs appear as broad elevations of the RPE band relative to Bruch membrane (Coscas et al., 2007). Using quantitative subanalysis, it is possible to quantify the thickness and volume of PEDs in patients with neovascular AMD (Joeres et al., 2007a,b). However, to date, no consistent correlation has been found between PED measurements and visual function (Keane et al., 2008a, 2010a). This lack of correlation is perhaps not surprising as the presence of CNV beneath the RPE may not always result in disruption of photoreceptor-RPE interactions (it is also in line with experience from clinical practice, where it is relatively common to see large fibrovascular PEDs that prove refractory to treatment but where adequate visual function is maintained) (Gass, 1997). The failure to find a significant correlation may also be related to the relative inability of conventional OCT devices to visualize the areas underneath the highly reflective RPE and thus to characterize PED subtypes. Recent studies have utilized "enhanced depth" spectral domain OCT imaging to aid visualization of the sub-RPE space and have shown that many fibrovascular PEDs appear to be filled with solid layers of material of medium reflectivity, separated by hyporeflective clefts (Spaide et al., 2008; Spaide, 2009). Prototype OCT devices utilizing longer wavelength light sources to aid light penetration have also allowed improved visualization of choroidal structure (Yasuno et al., 2009). Further studies will be required to accurately characterize OCTderived images of choroidal structure and subsequently to determine their prognostic significance, if any.

4.3. Subretinal hyperreflective material

In many cases of neovascular AMD, vessels from the choroidal neovascular complex may pass directly into the subretinal space after their initial penetration of Bruch membrane (Grossniklaus and Green, 2004: Green and Enger, 1993: Green et al., 1985). In these initial growth phases, the CNV membrane is often highly vascular and appears on OCT as an amorphous lesion of medium- to high-reflectivity above the RPE (Liakopoulos et al., 2008; Joeres et al., 2007b). As the CNV lesion becomes less active over time, the vascular component typically regresses, while the fibrous component increases, resulting in disciform scar formation that appears on OCT as a well demarcated highly hyperreflective lesion. A number of studies have demonstrated that the total volume of subretinal tissue present correlates with visual parameters such as distance acuity, reading ability, and contrast sensitivity (Keane et al., 2008a, 2010a; Kashani et al., 2009). For example, in the ABC trial, approximately 24% of the variation in contrast sensitivity at the baseline could be accounted for by increases in the total volume of subretinal tissue (Keane et al., 2010a). Since the positioning of the fibrovascular tissue in the subretinal space may disrupt communication between the photoreceptors and the RPE, a deleterious effect on contrast sensitivity is not surprising (Gass, 1997).

4.4. Subretinal fluid

As the choroidal neovascular membrane grows, it is often accompanied by profuse leakage from its immature blood vessels (Grossniklaus and Green, 2004). Consequently, pockets of fluid commonly accumulate between the neurosensory retina and the RPE, and these areas may be seen on OCT as hyporeflective spaces (Joeres et al., 2007b). When fluid exudation is serous in nature, subretinal fluid pockets are seen on OCT as homogenous hyporeflective spaces; when the exudate contains fibrin or red blood cells, the area of subretinal fluid may by sparsely hyperreflective (Keane et al., 2010b). Spectral domain OCT allows enhanced visualization of the subretinal space and assessment of the optical density of subretinal fluid compartments may have value for the differentiation of macular disorders associated with subretinal accumulation (Ahlers et al., 2009b). Weak correlations have been reported between increased volumes of subretinal fluid and decreased contrast sensitivity, although evidence for its association with other visual parameters in neovascular AMD is lacking (Keane et al., 2010a).

4.5. Vitreomacular interface abnormalities

Retinal imaging with OCT allows detailed evaluation of the vitreomacular interface (Mirza et al., 2007). On OCT,

vitreomacular traction may be seen when a thickened, taut, posterior hyaloid causes deformation of the inner retinal surface, which may often be accompanied by CME (Koizumi et al., 2008). Epiretinal membranes (ERMs) are often seen on OCT as hyperreflective bands anterior to the inner retinal surface, with distortion of the underlying anatomy (Legarreta et al., 2008). A number of authors have recently suggested that vitreomacular interface abnormalities may play a role in the pathogenesis of CNV (Lee et al., 2009; Mojana et al., 2008; Krebs et al., 2007; Nomura et al., 2010; Robison et al., 2009). Further study is required to confirm this theory and to determine whether it has any prognostic implications.

5. Retinal vascular disease

Although histopathologic reports suggest that the features of retinal vascular disease may vary according to its underlying etiology (e.g. intraretinal cyst location and extent; serous retinal detachment frequency and severity) (Traustason et al., 2009; Fine and Brucker, 1981), the lessons learnt from characterization of diabetic maculopathy using OCT may also be important for the management of other diseases where the tomographic features have been less well-defined (Keane and Sadda, 2009).

5.1. Diabetic maculopathy

On OCT, diabetic macular edema (DME) is generally seen as an area of retinal thickening that is often accompanied by loss of the foveal depression. Approximately 90% of patients with DME show evidence of sponge-like retinal thickening associated with decreased optical backscattering on OCT - this thickening may be localized to the outer nuclear layer, or extend diffusely to involve the entire retina (Kim et al., 2009; Otani et al., 1999). Sponge-like retinal thickening is often seen in association with both CME and serous retinal detachment, however, it may also occur in isolation, particularly in patients with mild-moderate nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy, and in this context is associated with less severe visual loss (Alkurava et al., 2005). Approximately 50% of patients with DME demonstrate evidence of round or oval hyporeflective areas on OCT consistent with intraretinal cystoid spaces (Otani et al., 1999; Kim et al., 2006). On FA, leakage into cystoid spaces may result in a "petalloid" or "honeycomb" appearance. On OCT, petalloid hyperfluorescence is associated with cystoid space formation in the radially arranged outer plexiform layer of Henle, while honeycomb hyperfluorescence correlates with cystoid space in the vertically arranged inner nuclear layer (Otani and Kishi, 2007). Detection of CME on OCT is associated with a more severe reduction in visual acuity and a poorer response to treatment than OCTs displaying sponge-like retinal thickening alone (Brasil et al., 2007). Using microperimetry, Deák et al. have demonstrated that outer nuclear layer cysts – in particular those > 220 μ m in size – have greater negative effects on retinal sensitivity than inner nuclear layer cysts (Deák et al., 2010b).

Approximately 15–30% of patients with DME demonstrate evidence of serous retinal detachment on OCT (Catier et al., 2005; Ozdemir et al., 2005a,b; Gaucher et al., 2008). Serous retinal detachment occurs when fluid accumulation leads to separation of the neurosensory retina and the RPE, and is seen on OCT as a hyporeflective space. The presence of a serous retinal detachment may represent a specific feature of a severe stage of DME (Kim et al., 2006; Alkuraya et al., 2009), although this feature may occur even when the central retinal thickness above the detachment is within the normal range (Gaucher et al., 2008). Furthermore, serous retinal detachment may resolve despite worsening of DME, and the presence of this feature on OCT does not appear indicative of a poor prognosis (Gaucher et al., 2008; Ozdemir et al., 2005b).

In areas of long-standing edema, lipid and protein may precipitate in the outer retina, forming hard exudates that appear as focal areas of hyperreflectivity with posterior shadowing (Otani and Kishi, 2001; Bolz et al., 2009). In some cases these foci can be located on OCT before they can be seen on either biomicroscopy, color photography, or infrared imaging and may thus constitute a marker for early subclinical blood– retinal-barrier breakdown in DME (Bolz et al., 2009). In more advanced cases, these foci may become confluent forming hyperreflective plaques in the outer plexiform and outer nuclear layers and resulting in decreased retinal sensitivity (Deák et al., 2010a,b; Ota et al., 2010a).

Abnormalities of the vitreomacular interface are also commonly seen in DME (Gaucher et al., 2005; Ghazi et al., 2007). On OCT, the posterior hyaloid may be seen as a thin hyperreflective membrane with a broad or focal adhesion to the retinal surface. In patients with DME, this membrane often appears thickened and taut, exerting obvious traction on the retina and resulting in a characteristic peaked appearance. ERMs also commonly form in patients with DME and may be clearly seen on OCT. Identification of these features is important as surgical intervention may lead to significantly improved visual outcomes (Otani and Kishi, 2000; Patel et al., 2006; Thomas et al., 2005). Thus, evaluation of the vitreomacular interface should always be performed in patients with DME, particularly when retinal thickening is present on clinical examination but fluorescein angiography discloses no significant leakage or ischemia.

Ischemic changes are commonly seen in patients with diabetic maculopathy and may have a negative impact on visual function, as well as on response to treatment, in patients with DME (in a minority of patients, visually significant ischemic maculopathy may also occur in the absence of DME) (Bresnick et al., 1984; Conrath et al., 2005). In general, the features and natural history of diabetic ischemic maculopathy remain poorly understood - a finding reflected in the relative paucity of related OCT studies. Recently however, studies using spectral domain OCT have shown that macular ischemia is associated with disorganization and loss of inner retinal layers, as well as reductions in retinal sensitivity (Yeung et al., 2009; Byeon et al., 2009). Other evidence suggests that eves with cystoid spaces at the foveal center on OCT may have larger foveal avascular zones on fluorescein angiography (Murakami et al., 2010). As anti-angiogenic therapies are introduced for the treatment of DME, further research is necessary to more completely characterize the OCT features of diabetic macular ischemia and thus determine their prognostic significance.

Numerous studies have used a quantitative approach when examining the correlation between visual acuity and OCTderived features in patients with DME (Hee et al., 1995b, 1998; Otani et al., 1999; Catier et al., 2005; Goebel and Kretzchmar-Gross, 2002; Massin et al., 2003). Initial studies found evidence of a strong correlation between increased retinal thickness and decreased visual acuity, although many involved small sample sizes and lacked best-corrected ETDRS visual acuities. The evidence from more recent studies is less clear, with the most comprehensive data to date suggesting a modest correlation between OCT-measured foveal center point thickness and visual acuity (r = 0.52), and a modest correlation between changes in retinal thickening and visual acuity after laser treatment for DME (r = 0.44) (Network et al., 2007). The strength of the observed correlations may be treatment-dependent - in a recent randomized controlled trial assessing the efficacy of intravitreal triamcinolone, no statistically significant correlation was detected between changes in retinal thickness and visual acuity in treated patients (Larsson et al., 2005). The visual significance of OCT-derived parameters other than retinal thickness/volume has also been assessed. Alasil et al. demonstrated a significant correlation between visual acuity and photoreceptor outer segment thickening and volume, but no association of vision with subretinal fluid volume (Alasil et al., 2010).

5.2. Retinal vein occlusion

Both central retinal vein occlusion (CRVO) and branch retinal vein occlusion (BRVO) are common causes of macular edema (Johnson, 2009). In these disorders, acute extravasation of fluid into the extracellular space of the retina results from increased hydrostatic pressure in retinal veins distal to their point of occlusion. In addition, growth factors released in response to hypoxia may lead to breakdown of the inner blood-retinal barrier, increasing fluid extravasation. Macular edema in retinal vein occlusion appears similar to that in DME, although in BRVO the observed changes on OCT are usually restricted to either the superior or inferior aspects of the macula (Spaide et al., 2003). In addition, serous detachment of the retina is more commonly seen in retinal vein occlusions than from other etiologies, although the presence of serous macular detachments does not appear to be associated with worse visual outcomes (Catier et al., 2005). A number of studies have evaluated the correlation between OCT-derived retinal thickness parameters and visual acuity, but have only identified moderate correlations (Scott et al., 2009). More recently, studies have shown that the integrity of the ELM, and photoreceptor IS-OS junction, appears to correlate with visual acuity in both forms of retinal vein occlusion (Ota et al., 2007, 2008a,b, 2010b; Yamaike et al., 2008).

5.3. Uveitic syndromes

Macular edema typically develops in patients with intermediate and posterior uveitis, but may also be seen in cases of isolated anterior uveitis, and is a common cause of visual loss (Gallagher et al., 2007; Tran et al., 2008; Iannetti et al., 2008). Many of the edematous changes seen on OCT in DME may also be seen in chronic uveitis and similar OCT–visual acuity correlations have typically been described (Tran et al., 2008; Roesel et al., 2009).

6. Central serous chorioretinopathy

Central serous chorioretinopathy (CSC) is a common macular disorder characterized by serous detachment of the neurosen-

sory retina and/or the RPE (Wang et al., 2008). CSC occurs most commonly in young and middle-aged males and is often only associated with modest reduction in visual function. CSC is believed to occur as a result of choroidal hyperpermeability, although the integrity of the RPE may play a role in determining the exact disease phenotype (Spitznas, 1986). On fluorescein angiography in CSC, leakage of dye may be seen at the level of the RPE, followed by pooling of the dye in the sub-RPE and/or subretinal space. In some patients with CSC, particularly Asians and older age groups, multiple sites of prolonged or recurrent leakage may affect one or both eyes leading to widespread abnormalities of the RPE – a condition termed "chronic CSC" (Iida et al., 2003).

On OCT, the characteristic feature of CSC is the presence of subretinal fluid distributed in a disciform pattern (i.e. serous retinal detachment), accompanied by one or more discrete areas of PED (Iida et al., 2000; Montero and Ruiz-Moreno, 2005). Typically, the subretinal fluid is homogeneously hyporeflective, reflecting its serous nature, although subretinal fibrinous deposits are sometimes present (Wang et al., 2005). In CSC, PEDs are usually small, well demarcated, and lack any evidence of the RPE hypertrophy or hyperplasia that can occur in PEDs associated with other macular disorders (Cho et al., 2010; Ooto et al., 2010). PEDs in CSC are also usually dome-shaped and homogenously hyporeflective, with clear visibility of the Bruch membrane/choriocapillaris complex. In Asian populations, multiple larger PEDs are often seen and, in some cases, focal defects in the RPE, associated with overlying hyperreflective fibrinous exudation, may be evident (Fujimoto et al., 2008). When such fibrinous exudation is severe it may result in the formation of fibrinous bands that extend between the RPE and the neurosensory retina, and lead to sagging/dipping of the retina over leakage sites in areas of serous detachment.

When patients with CSC are examined using OCT, changes in the overlying neurosensory retina can also be observed (Ahlers et al., 2009a). Hyperreflective deposits are often seen adherent to the undersurface of the retina in areas of serous detachment - these deposits may represent fragments of photoreceptor outer segments that have been incompletely phagocytosed due to separation from the RPE. In most patients with CSC, the ELM appears intact on OCT, but the IS-OS junction and outer plexiform layers show diffusely increased hyperreflectivity (Ahlers et al., 2009a; Matsumoto et al., 2008). These changes may represent structural changes in the neurosensory retina, although recent studies suggest that they more likely reflect changes in the OCT signal from changes in the orientation of vertically oriented retinal microstructures (see above) (Lujan et al., 2010; Otani et al., 2010). More recently, "enhanced depth imaging" OCT has been used to evaluate choroidal thickness in patients with CSC - these studies have demonstrated that the choroidal thickness is significantly greater in patients with CSC than in normal eyes, and that treatment with photodynamic therapy leads to reductions in this parameter (Imamura et al., 2009; Maruko et al., 2010).

Considerable efforts have been made to predict visual outcomes using OCT in patients with CSC – particularly as the disease affects a relatively young population, often with "type A" personalities, for whom duration of symptoms and ultimate visual prognosis is a major concern (Yannuzzi, 1987). Matsumoto et al. have demonstrated that thickness of the outer nuclear layer is positively correlated with visual acuity in patients with resolved CSC; they also reported that eyes with thinner outer nuclear layers and reduced visual acuity were more likely to manifest discontinuities of their IS–OS junctions when examined with OCT (Matsumoto et al., 2009). The importance of both IS–OS junction and ELM integrity has been confirmed in other reports, many of which have also detected a relationship between initial foveal thickness and final visual outcome (Ojima et al., 2007; Piccolino et al., 2005; Aggio et al., 2010; Shinojima et al., 2010). In the near future, advances in OCT technology will allow enhanced visualization of both choroidal and RPE structure; such advances may allow the clinician to better predict the course of the disease, including time to symptom resolution and the likelihood of recurrent or chronic disease (Keane and Sadda, 2010).

7. Non-neovascular age-related macular degeneration

The clinical hallmark of AMD is the deposition of acellular, polymorphous material, termed drusen, between the RPE and Bruch membrane (Jager et al., 2008). In early AMD, drusen are often accompanied by focal retinal pigmentary abnormalities; as AMD progresses, alterations in the RPE often accumulate, resulting in the loss of large areas of RPE and outer retina, a phenomenon termed GA (Sunness et al., 2007).

With current commercial OCT systems, small and intermediate size drusen may be clearly seen as discrete areas of RPE elevation with variable reflectivity, reflecting the variable composition of the underlying material (Gorczynska et al., 2009; Khanifar et al., 2008). In larger drusen, or drusenoid PED, greater elevation of the RPE may be seen, often dome-shaped, with a hypo- or medium-reflective material separating the RPE from the underlying Bruch membrane (Roquet et al., 2004; Spaide and Curcio, 2010). Larger drusen may often become confluent, resulting in a large lateral dimension, but no single broad-domed lesion. On OCT, drusen are often accompanied by changes in the overlying neurosensory retina – these may be seen as disruption of the IS-OS junction and ELM, as well as significant thinning of the outer nuclear layer (Schuman et al., 2009). These findings are consistent with previous histopathologic studies demonstrating photoreceptor loss in patients with drusen (Curcio et al., 1996).

In GA, confluent areas of RPE atrophy are accompanied by loss of the overlying photoreceptors and varying degrees of choriocapillaris loss seen on fluorescein angiography (Gass, 1997; Sunness, 1999). On OCT, GA appears as areas of sharply demarcated choroidal hyperreflectivity due to loss of the overlying RPE (atrophy from causes other than AMD e.g. from confluent laser photocoagulation – may have a similar appearance) (Wolf-Schnurrbusch et al., 2008). Associated retinal atrophy is seen as thinning or loss of the outer nuclear layer and the absence of ELM and IS-OS junctions (Fleckenstein et al., 2008). On OCT, islands of preserved outer retina may sometime be identified in areas of GA, as can regressing drusenoid materials, seen as hyperreflective plaques at the level of the RPE. GA may also be associated with the presence of small cyst-like spaces in the inner nuclear layer, in the absence of macular edema (Cohen et al., 2010).

Assessment of visual prognosis in patients with GA is dependent on knowledge of GA size, location, and rates of progression (Sunness et al., 2007). For the latter, fundus autofluorescence findings in the junctional zone surrounding GA have proven useful in highlighting those cases likely to progress rapidly (Holz et al., 2007). Evaluation of the junctional zones around GA, using OCT, has shown that the ELM and IS–OS junctions may be seen to taper off, and the outer plexiform later can be seen to approach toward Bruch membrane (suggesting that photoreceptor loss often extends beyond the margins of GA lesions) (Bearelly et al., 2009). OCT studies have also demonstrated a variety of dynamic changes in the junctional zone, including pigment migration and alterations in drusen height (Fleckenstein et al., 2010). GA assessment using OCT may thus provide insight into disease pathogenesis, but its potential benefits for prediction of visual outcomes remain to be determined (Schütze et al., 2010; Yehoshua et al., 2010a,b; Brar et al., 2009a; Lujan et al., 2009).

8. Conclusion

Following its release in 2002, Stratus OCT (Carl Zeiss Meditec, Dublin, CA) became the first OCT system to become ubiquitous among retina specialists worldwide and led to significant advances in the diagnosis and management of disorders such as diabetic retinopathy and neovascular AMD. More recently, the next generation of commercial OCT systems - spectral domain OCT - has provided significant increases in image acquisition speed, resolution, and sensitivity. While use of spectral domain OCT technology has led to the identification of many new structural features of macular disease, much work remains to correlate these findings with visual function and, thus, to predict visual outcomes. The rate of ongoing change in OCT hardware is also rapid, with new commercial systems expected to allow enhanced visualization of the choroid as well direct, non-invasive measurements of macular blood flow, and greatly increased speeds. Although our current ability to predict visual outcomes using OCT remains somewhat limited, such advances should ultimately allow clinicians a comprehensive understanding of visual prognosis in macular disease, with all the attendant benefits for their patients.

Disclosure

Dr. Sadda is a co-inventor of Doheny intellectual property related to optical coherence tomography that has been licensed by Topcon Medical Systems, and is a member of the scientific advisory board for Heidelberg Engineering. Dr. Sadda also receives research support from Carl Zeiss Meditec, Optos, and Optovue Inc.

This research has received a proportion of its funding from the Department of Health's NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Ophthalmology at Moorfields Eye Hospital and UCL Institute of Ophthalmology. The views expressed in the publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Department of Health.

References

- Aggio, F.B., Roisman, L., Melo, G.B., Lavinsky, D., Cardillo, J.A., Farah, M.E., 2010. Clinical factors related to visual outcome in central serous chorioretinopathy. Retina 30, 1128–1134.
- Ahlers, C., Golbaz, I., Stock, G., Fous, A., Kolar, S., Pruente, C., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., 2008a. Time course of morphologic effects on

different retinal compartments after ranibizumab therapy in agerelated macular degeneration. Ophthalmology 115, e39–e46.

- Ahlers, C., Simader, C., Geitzenauer, W., Stock, G., Stetson, P., Dastmalchi, S., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., 2008b. Automatic segmentation in three-dimensional analysis of fibrovascular pigmentepithelial detachment using high-definition optical coherence tomography. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 92, 197–203.
- Ahlers, C., Geitzenauer, W., Stock, G., Golbaz, I., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., Prünte, C., 2009a. Alterations of intraretinal layers in acute central serous chorioretinopathy. Acta Ophthalmol. 87, 511–516.
- Ahlers, C., Golbaz, I., Einwallner, E., Dunavölgyi, R., Malamos, P., Stock, G., Pruente, C., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., 2009b. Identification of optical density ratios in subretinal fluid as a clinically relevant biomarker in exudative macular disease. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 3417–3424.
- Alasil, T., Keane, P.A., Updike, J.F., Dustin, L., Ouyang, Y., Walsh, A.C., Sadda, S.R., 2010. Relationship between optical coherence tomography retinal parameters and visual acuity in diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 117, 2379–2386.
- Alkuraya, H., Kangave, D., Abu El-Asrar, A.M., 2005. The correlation between optical coherence tomographic features and severity of retinopathy, macular thickness and visual acuity in diabetic macular edema. Int. Ophthalmol. 26, 93–99.
- Alkuraya, H., Al-Kharashi, A., Alharthi, E., Chaudhry, I., 2009. Acute endophthalmitis caused by *Staphylococcus lugdunensis* after intravitreal bevacizumab (Avastin) injection. Int. Ophthalmol. 29, 411–413.
- Arditi, A., 2005. Improving the design of the letter contrast sensitivity test. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 46, 2225–2229.
- Bailey, I.L., Lovie, J.E., 1976. New design principles for visual acuity letter charts. Am. J. Optom. Physiol. Opt. 53, 740–745.
- Bearelly, S., Chau, F., Koreishi, A., Stinnett, S., Izatt, J., Toth, C., 2009. Spectral domain optical coherence tomography imaging of geographic atrophy margins. Ophthalmology 116, 1762–1769.
- Bolz, M., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., Deák, G., Mylonas, G., Kriechbaum, K., Scholda, C., Vienna, D.R.R.G., 2009. Optical coherence tomographic hyperreflective foci: a morphologic sign of lipid extravasation in diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 116, 914– 920.
- Brar, M., Kozak, I., Cheng, L., Bartsch, D., Yuson, R., Nigam, N., Oster, S., Mojana, F., Freeman, W.R., 2009a. Correlation between spectral-domain optical coherence tomography and fundus autofluorescence at the margins of geographic atrophy. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 148, 439–444.
- Brar, M., Bartsch, D.-U.G., Nigam, N., Mojana, F., Gomez, L., Cheng, L., Hedaya, J., Freeman, W.R., 2009b. Colour versus greyscale display of images on high-resolution spectral OCT. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 93, 597–602.
- Brasil, O.F.M., Smith, S.D., Galor, A., Lowder, C.Y., Sears, J.E., Kaiser, P.K., 2007. Predictive factors for short-term visual outcome after intravitreal triamcinolone acetonide injection for diabetic macular oedema: an optical coherence tomography study. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 91, 761–765.
- Bresnick, G.H., Condit, R., Syrjala, S., Palta, M., Groo, A., Korth, K., 1984. Abnormalities of the foveal avascular zone in diabetic retinopathy. Arch. Ophthalmol. 102, 1286–1293.
- Brown, D.M., Regillo, C.D., 2007. Anti-VEGF agents in the treatment of neovascular age-related macular degeneration: applying clinical trial results to the treatment of everyday patients. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 144, 627–637.
- Brown, D.M., Kaiser, P.K., Michels, M., Soubrane, G., Heier, J.S., Kim, R.Y., Sy, J.P., Schneider, S., Group, A.S., 2006. Ranibizumab versus verteporfin for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. N. Engl. J. Med. 355, 1432–1444.
- Byeon, S., Chu, Y., Lee, H., Lee, S., Kwon, O., 2009. Foveal ganglion cell layer damage in ischemic diabetic maculopathy correlation of optical coherence tomographic and anatomic changes. Ophthalmology 116, 1949–1959, e8.

- Catier, A., Tadayoni, R., Paques, M., Erginay, A., Haouchine, B., Gaudric, A., Massin, P., 2005. Characterization of macular edema from various etiologies by optical coherence tomography. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 140, 200–206.
- Chen, F., Patel, P., Xing, W., Bunce, C., Egan, C., Tufail, A.T., Coffey, P., Rubin, G., da Cruz, L., 2009. Test–retest variability of microperimetry using the Nidek MP1 in patients with macular disease. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 3464–3472.
- Cho, M., Athanikar, A., Paccione, J., Wald, K.J., 2010. Optical coherence tomography features of acute central serous chorioretinopathy versus neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 94, 597–599.
- Cohen, S.Y., Dubois, L., Nghiem-Buffet, S., Ayrault, S., Fajnkuchen, F., Guiberteau, B., Delahaye-Mazza, C., Quentel, G., Tadayoni, R., 2010. Retinal pseudocysts in age-related geographic atrophy. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 150, 211–217.e1.
- Conrath, J., Giorgi, R., Raccah, D., Ridings, B., 2005. Foveal avascular zone in diabetic retinopathy: quantitative vs qualitative assessment. Eye 19, 322–326.
- Coscas, F., Coscas, G., Souied, E., Tick, S., Soubrane, G., 2007. Optical coherence tomography identification of occult choroidal neovascularization in age-related macular degeneration. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 144, 592–599.
- Csaky, K.G., Richman, E.A., Ferris, F.L., 2008. Report from the NEI/ FDA ophthalmic clinical trial design and endpoints symposium. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49, 479–489.
- Curcio, C.A., Medeiros, N.E., Millican, C.L., 1996. Photoreceptor loss in age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 37, 1236–1249.
- Deák, G.G., Bolz, M., Kriechbaum, K., Prager, S., Mylonas, G., Scholda, C., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., Vienna, D.R.R.G., 2010a. Effect of retinal photocoagulation on intraretinal lipid exudates in diabetic macular edema documented by optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 117, 773–779.
- Deák, G.G., Bolz, M., Ritter, M., Prager, S.G., Benesch, T., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., 2010b. A systematic correlation of morphology and functional alterations in diabetic macular edema. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 51, 6710–6714.
- Drexler, W., Fujimoto, J.G., 2008. State-of-the-art retinal optical coherence tomography. Prog. Ret. Eye Res. 27, 45–88.
- Duivenvoorden, R., de Groot, E., Stroes, E., Kastelein, J., 2009. Surrogate markers in clinical trials—challenges and opportunities. Atherosclerosis 206, 8–16.
- Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group, 1985. Photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study report number 1. Arch. Ophthalmol. 103, 1796–1806.
- Elliott, D.B., Patla, A.E., Furniss, M., Adkin, A., 2000. Improvements in clinical and functional vision and quality of life after second eye cataract surgery. Optom. Vis. Sci. 77, 13–24.
- Elliott, D.B., Patel, B., Whitaker, D., 2001. Development of a reading speed test for potential-vision measurements. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 1945–1949.
- Falkenstein, I.A., Cochran, D.E., Azen, S.P., Dustin, L., Tammewar, A.M., Kozak, I., Freeman, W.R., 2007. Comparison of visual acuity in macular degeneration patients measured with Snellen and Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study charts. Ophthalmology 115, 319–323.
- Fine, S.L., 2005. Age-related macular degeneration 1969–2004: a 35year personal perspective. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 139, 405– 420.
- Fine, B.S., Brucker, A.J., 1981. Macular edema and cystoid macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 92, 466–481.
- Fleckenstein, M., Charbel Issa, P., Helb, H.-M., Schmitz-Valckenberg, S., Finger, R.P., Scholl, H.P.N., Loeffler, K.U., Holz, F.G., 2008. High-resolution spectral domain-OCT imaging in geographic atrophy associated with age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49, 4137–4144.

- Fleckenstein, M., Schmitz-Valckenberg, S., Adrion, C., Krämer, I., Eter, N., Helb, H.M., Brinkmann, C.K., Charbel Issa, P., Mansmann, U., Holz, F.G., 2010. Tracking progression with spectraldomain optical coherence tomography in geographic atrophy caused by age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 51, 3846–3852.
- Fujimoto, H., Gomi, F., Wakabayashi, T., Sawa, M., Tsujikawa, M., Tano, Y., 2008. Morphologic changes in acute central serous chorioretinopathy evaluated by fourier-domain optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 115, 1494–1500, 1500.e1–2.
- Fung, A.E., Lalwani, G.A., Rosenfeld, P.J., Dubovy, S.R., Michels, S., Feuer, W.J., Puliafito, C.A., Davis, J.L., Flynn, H.W., Esquiabro, M., 2007. An optical coherence tomography-guided, variable dosing regimen with intravitreal ranibizumab (Lucentis) for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 143, 566–583.
- Gallagher, M.J., Yilmaz, T., Cervantes-Castañeda, R.A., Foster, C.S., 2007. The characteristic features of optical coherence tomography in posterior uveitis. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 91, 1680–1685.
- Gass, J. Donald M., 1998. Stereoscopic Atlas of Macular Diseases: Diagnosis and Treatment, vol.1, fourth ed. St Louis, Mosby.
- Gaucher, D., Tadayoni, R., Erginay, A., Haouchine, B., Gaudric, A., Massin, P., 2005. Optical coherence tomography assessment of the vitreoretinal relationship in diabetic macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 139, 807–813.
- Gaucher, D., Sebah, C., Erginay, A., Haouchine, B., Tadayoni, R., Gaudric, A., Massin, P., 2008. Optical coherence tomography features during the evolution of serous retinal detachment in patients with diabetic macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 145, 289–296.
- Ghazi, N.G., Ciralsky, J.B., Shah, S.M., Campochiaro, P.A., Haller, J.A., 2007. Optical coherence tomography findings in persistent diabetic macular edema: the vitreomacular interface. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 144, 747–754.
- Gloesmann, M., Hermann, B., Schubert, C., Sattmann, H., Ahnelt, P., Drexler, W., 2003. Histologic correlation of pig retina radial stratification with ultrahigh-resolution optical coherence tomography. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 1696–1703.
- Goebel, W., Kretzchmar-Gross, T., 2002. Retinal thickness in diabetic retinopathy: a study using optical coherence tomography (OCT). Retina 22, 759–767.
- Gorczynska, I., Srinivasan, V.J., Vuong, L.N., Chen, R.W.S., Liu, J.J., Reichel, E., Wojtkowski, M., Schuman, J.S., Duker, J.S., Fujimoto, J.G., 2009. Projection OCT fundus imaging for visualising outer retinal pathology in non-exudative age-related macular degeneration. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 93, 603–609.
- Green, W.R., Enger, C., 1993. Age-related macular degeneration histopathologic studies: The 1992 Lorenz E. Zimmerman Lecture. Ophthalmology 100, 1519–1535.
- Green, W.R., McDonnell, P.J., Yeo, J.H., 1985. Pathologic features of senile macular degeneration. Ophthalmology 92, 615–627.
- Grossniklaus, H.E., Green, W.R., 2004. Choroidal neovascularization. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 137, 496–503.
- Hayashi, H., Yamashiro, K., Tsujikawa, A., Ota, M., Otani, A., Yoshimura, N., 2009. Association between foveal photoreceptor integrity and visual outcome in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 148, 83–89.e1.
- Hazel, C.A., Petre, K.L., Armstrong, R.A., Benson, M.T., Frost, N.A., 2000. Visual function and subjective quality of life compared in subjects with acquired macular disease. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41, 1309–1315.
- Hee, M., Izatt, J., Swanson, E., Huang, D., Schuman, J., Lin, C., Puliafito, C., Fujimoto, J., 1995a. Optical coherence tomography of the human retina. Arch. Ophthalmol. 113, 325–332.
- Hee, M., Puliafito, C., Wong, C., Duker, J., Reichel, E., Rutledge, B., Schuman, J., Swanson, E., Fujimoto, J., 1995b. Quantitative

assessment of macular edema with optical coherence tomography. Arch. Ophthalmol. 113, 1019–1029.

- Hee, M., Puliafito, C., Duker, J., Reichel, E., Coker, J., Wilkins, J., Schuman, J., Swanson, E., Fujimoto, J., 1998. Topography of diabetic macular edema with optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 105, 360–370.
- Hogg, R.E., Chakravarthy, U., 2006. Visual function and dysfunction in early and late age-related maculopathy. Prog. Ret. Eye Res. 25, 249–276.
- Holladay, J.T., 2004. Visual acuity measurements. J. Cat. Refract. Surg. 30, 287–290.
- Holz, F.G., Bindewald-Wittich, A., Fleckenstein, M., Dreyhaupt, J., Scholl, H.P.N., Schmitz-Valckenberg, S., Group, F.-S., 2007. Progression of geographic atrophy and impact of fundus autofluorescence patterns in age-related macular degeneration. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 143, 463–472.
- Huang, D., Swanson, E., Lin, C., Schuman, J., Stinson, W., Chang, W., Hee, M., Flotte, T., Gregory, K., Puliafito, C., et al., 1991. Optical coherence tomography. Science 254, 1178–1181.
- Iannetti, L., Accorinti, M., Liverani, M., Caggiano, C., Abdulaziz, R., Pivetti-Pezzi, P., 2008. Optical coherence tomography for classification and clinical evaluation of macular edema in patients with uveitis. Ocul. Immunol. Inflamm. 16, 155–160.
- Iida, T., Hagimura, N., Sato, T., Kishi, S., 2000. Evaluation of central serous chorioretinopathy with optical coherence tomography. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 129, 16–20.
- Iida, T., Yannuzzi, L.A., Spaide, R.F., Borodoker, N., Carvalho, C.A., Negrao, S., 2003. Cystoid macular degeneration in chronic central serous chorioretinopathy. Retina 23, 1–7, quiz 137–138.
- Imamura, Y., Fujiwara, T., Margolis, R., Spaide, R.F., 2009. Enhanced depth imaging optical coherence tomography of the choroid in central serous chorioretinopathy. Retina 29, 1469–1473.
- Jager, R.D., Mieler, W.F., Miller, J.W., 2008. Age-related macular degeneration. N. Engl. J. Med. 358, 2606–2617.
- Joeres, S., Kaplowitz, K., Brubaker, J.W., Updike, P.G., Collins, A.T., Walsh, A.C., Romano, P.W., Sadda, S.R., 2007a. Quantitative comparison of optical coherence tomography after pegaptanib or bevacizumab in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Ophthalmology 115, 347–354.e2.
- Joeres, S., Tsong, J.W., Updike, P.G., Collins, A.T., Dustin, L., Walsh, A.C., Romano, P.W., Sadda, S.R., 2007b. Reproducibility of quantitative optical coherence tomography subanalysis in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 48, 4300–4307.
- Johnson, M., 2009. Etiology and treatment of macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 147, 11–21.e1.
- Kashani, A.H., Keane, P.A., Dustin, L., Walsh, A.C., Sadda, S.R., 2009. Quantitative subanalysis of cystoid spaces and outer nuclear layer using optical coherence tomography in age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 3366–3373.
- Keane, P.A., Sadda, S.R., 2008. Spectral domain optical coherence tomography. Saudi J. Ophthalmol. 22, 231–239.
- Keane, P.A., Sadda, S.R., 2009. Optical coherence tomography in the diagnosis and management of diabetic retinopathy. Int. Ophthalmol. Clin. 49, 61–74.
- Keane, P.A., Sadda, S.R., 2010. Imaging chorioretinal vascular disease. Eye 24, 422–427.
- Keane, P.A., Liakopoulos, S., Chang, K.T., Wang, M., Dustin, L., Walsh, A.C., Sadda, S.R., 2008a. Relationship between optical coherence tomography retinal parameters and visual acuity in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Ophthalmology 115, 2206–2214.
- Keane, P.A., Liakopoulos, S., Ongchin, S.C., Heussen, F.M., Msutta, S., Chang, K.T., Walsh, A.C., Sadda, S.R., 2008b. Quantitative subanalysis of optical coherence tomography after treatment with ranibizumab for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49, 3115–3120.

- Keane, P.A., Liakopoulos, S., Jivrajka, R.V., Chang, K.T., Alasil, T., Walsh, A.C., Sadda, S.R., 2009a. Evaluation of optical coherence tomography retinal thickness parameters for use in clinical trials for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 3378–3385.
- Keane, P.A., Mand, P.S., Liakopoulos, S., Walsh, A.C., Sadda, S.R., 2009b. Accuracy of retinal thickness measurements obtained with Cirrus optical coherence tomography. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 93, 1461– 1467.
- Keane, P.A., Chang, K.T., Liakopoulos, S., Jivrajka, R.V., Walsh, A.C., Sadda, S.R., 2009c. Effect of ranibizumab retreatment frequency on neurosensory retinal volume in neovascular AMD. Retina 29, 592–600.
- Keane, P.A., Patel, P.J., Ouyang, Y., Chen, F.K., Ikeji, F., Walsh, A.C., Tufail, A.T., Sadda, S.R., 2010a. Effects of retinal morphology on contrast sensitivity and reading ability in neovascular agerelated macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 51, 5431–5437.
- Keane, P.A., Aghaian, E., Ouyang, Y., Chong, L.P., Sadda, S.R., 2010b. Acute severe visual decrease after photodynamic therapy with verteporfin: spectral-domain OCT features. Ophthalm. Surg. Lasers Imaging 41, S85–S88.
- Khanifar, A., Koreishi, A., Izatt, J., Toth, C., 2008. Drusen ultrastructure imaging with spectral domain optical coherence tomography in age-related macular degeneration. Ophthalmology 115, 1883–1890.
- Kiernan, D.F., Mieler, W.F., Hariprasad, S.M., 2010. Spectral-domain optical coherence tomography: a comparison of modern highresolution retinal imaging systems. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 149, 18–31.
- Kim, S.Y., Sadda, S., Pearlman, J., Humayun, M.S., de Juan, E., Melia, B.M., Green, W.R., 2002a. Morphometric analysis of the macula in eyes with disciform age-related macular degeneration. Retina 22, 471–477.
- Kim, S.Y., Sadda, S., Humayun, M.S., de Juan, E., Melia, B.M., Green, W.R., 2002b. Morphometric analysis of the macula in eyes with geographic atrophy due to age-related macular degeneration. Retina 22, 464–470.
- Kim, B.Y., Smith, S.D., Kaiser, P.K., 2006. Optical coherence tomographic patterns of diabetic macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 142, 405–412.
- Kim, N.R., Kim, Y.J., Chin, H.S., Moon, Y.S., 2009. Optical coherence tomographic patterns in diabetic macular oedema: prediction of visual outcome after focal laser photocoagulation. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 93, 901–905.
- Kiss, C.G., Geitzenauer, W., Simader, C., Gregori, G., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., 2009. Evaluation of ranibizumab-induced changes in high-resolution optical coherence tomographic retinal morphology and their impact on visual function. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 2376–2383.
- Klein, R., Chou, C.-F., Klein, B., Zhang, X., Meuer, S., Saaddine, J., 2011. Prevalence of age-related macular degeneration in the US population. Arch. Ophthalmol. 129, 75.
- Koizumi, H., Spaide, R.F., Fisher, Y.L., Freund, K.B., Klancnik, J.M., Yannuzzi, L.A., 2008. Three-dimensional evaluation of vitreomacular traction and epiretinal membrane using spectraldomain optical coherence tomography. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 145, 509–517.
- Krebs, I., Brannath, W., Glittenberg, C., Zeiler, F., Sebag, J., Binder, S., 2007. Posterior vitreomacular adhesion: a potential risk factor for exudative age-related macular degeneration? Am. J. Ophthalmol. 144, 741–746.
- Krebs, I., Falkner-Radler, C., Hagen, S., Haas, P., Brannath, W., Lie, S., Ansari-Shahrezaei, S., Binder, S., 2009. Quality of the threshold algorithm in age-related macular degeneration: stratus versus cirrus OCT. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 995.
- Lalwani, G., Rosenfeld, P., Fung, A., Dubovy, S., Michels, S., Feuer, W., Davis, J., Flynn, H., Esquiabro, M., 2009. A variable-dosing

regimen with intravitreal ranibizumab for neovascular age-related macular degeneration: year 2 of the PrONTO study. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 148, 43–58.e1.

- Larsson, J., Zhu, M., Sutter, F., Gillies, M.C., 2005. Relation between reduction of foveal thickness and visual acuity in diabetic macular edema treated with intravitreal triamcinolone. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 139, 802–806.
- Lee, S., Lee, C., Koh, H., 2009. Posterior vitreomacular adhesion and risk of exudative age-related macular degeneration: paired eye study. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 147, 621–626.e1.
- Legarreta, J.E., Gregori, G., Knighton, R.W., Punjabi, O.S., Lalwani, G.A., Puliafito, C.A., 2008. Three-dimensional spectral-domain optical coherence tomography images of the retina in the presence of epiretinal membranes. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 145, 1023–1030.
- Liakopoulos, S., Ongchin, S., Bansal, A., Msutta, S., Walsh, A., Updike, P., Sadda, S., 2008. Quantitative optical coherence tomography findings in various subtypes of neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49, 5048– 5054.
- Lloyd, R., Harris, J., Wadhwa, S., Chambers, W., 2008. Food and Drug Administration approval process for ophthalmic drugs in the US. Curr. Opin. Ophthalmol. 19, 190–194.
- Lovie-Kitchin, J.E., 1988. Validity and reliability of visual acuity measurements. Ophthal. Physiol. Opt. 8, 363–370.
- Lujan, B.J., Rosenfeld, P.J., Gregori, G., Wang, F., Knighton, R.W., Feuer, W.J., Puliafito, C.A., 2009. Spectral domain optical coherence tomographic imaging of geographic atrophy. Ophthal. Surg. Lasers Imaging 40, 96–101.
- Lujan, B., Roorda, A., Knighton, R.W., Carroll, J., 2010. Revealing Henle's fiber layer using spectral domain optical coherence tomography. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. Nov 11 [Epub ahead of print].
- Macular Photocoagulation Study Group, 1991. Subfoveal neovascular lesions in age-related macular degeneration. Guidelines for evaluation and treatment in the Macular Photocoagulation Study. Arch. Ophthalmol. 109, 1242–1257.
- Macular Photocoagulation Study Group, 1996. Occult choroidal neovascularization. Influence on visual outcome in patients with age-related macular degeneration. Arch. Ophthalmol. 114, 400– 412.
- Maruko, I., Iida, T., Sugano, Y., Ojima, A., Ogasawara, M., Spaide, R.F., 2010. Subfoveal choroidal thickness after treatment of central serous chorioretinopathy. Ophthalmology 117, 1792– 1799.
- Massin, P., Duguid, G., Erginay, A., Haouchine, B., Gaudric, A., 2003. Optical coherence tomography for evaluating diabetic macular edema before and after vitrectomy. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 135, 169–177.
- Matsumoto, H., Kishi, S., Otani, T., Sato, T., 2008. Elongation of photoreceptor outer segment in central serous chorioretinopathy. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 145, 162–168.
- Matsumoto, H., Sato, T., Kishi, S., 2009. Outer nuclear layer thickness at the fovea determines visual outcomes in resolved central serous chorioretinopathy. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 148, 105–110.e1.
- Midena, E., Vujosevic, S., Convento, E., Manfre', A., Cavarzeran, F., Pilotto, E., 2007. Microperimetry and fundus autofluorescence in patients with early age-related macular degeneration. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 91, 1499–1503.
- Midena, E., Vujosevic, S., Cavarzeran, F., Group, M.S., 2010. Normal values for fundus perimetry with the microperimeter MP1. Ophthalmology 117, 1571–1576, 6.e1.
- Mirza, R.G., Johnson, M.W., Jampol, L.M., 2007. Optical coherence tomography use in evaluation of the vitreoretinal interface: a review. Surv. Ophthalmol. 52, 397–421.
- Mitchell, P., Korobelnik, J.-F., Lanzetta, P., Holz, F.G., Pruente, C., Schmidt-Erfurth, U.M., Tano, Y., Wolf, S., 2010. Ranibizumab

(Lucentis) in neovascular age-related macular degeneration: evidence from clinical trials. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 94, 1–13.

- Mojana, F., Cheng, L., Bartsch, D.-U.G., Silva, G.A., Kozak, I., Nigam, N., Freeman, W.R., 2008. The role of abnormal vitreomacular adhesion in age-related macular degeneration: spectral optical coherence tomography and surgical results. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 146, 218–227.
- Monés, J., Rubin, G.S., 2005. Contrast sensitivity as an outcome measure in patients with subfoveal choroidal neovascularisation due to age-related macular degeneration. Eye 19, 1142–1150.
- Montero, J.A., Ruiz-Moreno, J.M., 2005. Optical coherence tomography characterisation of idiopathic central serous chorioretinopathy. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 89, 562–564.
- Moutray, T., Alarbi, M., Mahon, G., Stevenson, M., Chakravarthy, U., 2008. Relationships between clinical measures of visual function, fluorescein angiographic and optical coherence tomography features in patients with subfoveal choroidal neovascularisation. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 92, 361–364.
- Murakami, T., Nishijima, K., Sakamoto, A., Ota, M., Horii, T., Yoshimura, N., 2010. Foveal cystoid spaces are associated with enlarged foveal avascular zone and microaneurysms in diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 118, 359–367.
- Neelam, K., Nolan, J., Chakravarthy, U., Beatty, S., 2009. Psychophysical function in age-related maculopathy. Surv. Ophthalmol. 54, 167–210.
- Network, D.R.C.R., Browning, D.J., Glassman, A.R., Aiello, L.P., Beck, R.W., Brown, D.M., Fong, D.S., Bressler, N.M., Danis, R.P., Kinyoun, J.L., Nguyen, Q.D., Bhavsar, A.R., Gottlieb, J., Pieramici, D.J., Rauser, M.E., Apte, R.S., Lim, J.I., Miskala, P.H., 2007. Relationship between optical coherence tomography-measured central retinal thickness and visual acuity in diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 114, 525–536.
- Nomura, Y., Ueta, T., Iriyama, A., Inoue, Y., Obata, R., Tamaki, Y., Yamaguchi, T., Yanagi, Y., 2010. Vitreomacular interface in typical exudative age-related macular degeneration and polypoidal choroidal vasculopathy. Ophthalmology, Nov 2. [Epub ahed of print].
- Oishi, A., Hata, M., Shimozono, M., Mandai, M., Nishida, A., Kurimoto, Y., 2010. The significance of external limiting membrane status for visual acuity in age-related macular degeneration. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 150, 27e1–32e1.
- Ojima, Y., Hangai, M., Sasahara, M., Gotoh, N., Inoue, R., Yasuno, Y., Makita, S., Yatagai, T., Tsujikawa, A., Yoshimura, N., 2007. Three-dimensional imaging of the foveal photoreceptor layer in central serous chorioretinopathy using high-speed optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 114, 2197–2207.
- Ooto, S., Tsujikawa, A., Mori, S., Tamura, H., Yamashiro, K., Otani, A., Yoshimura, N., 2010. Retinal microstructural abnormalities in central serous chorioretinopathy and polypoidal choroidal vasculopathy. Retina, Sep 30 [Epub ahed of print].
- Ota, M., Tsujikawa, A., Murakami, T., Kita, M., Miyamoto, K., Sakamoto, A., Yamaike, N., Yoshimura, N., 2007. Association between integrity of foveal photoreceptor layer and visual acuity in branch retinal vein occlusion. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 91, 1644–1649.
- Ota, M., Tsujikawa, A., Kita, M., Miyamoto, K., Sakamoto, A., Yamaike, N., Kotera, Y., Yoshimura, N., 2008a. Integrity of foveal photoreceptor layer in central retinal vein occlusion. Retina 28, 1502–1508.
- Ota, M., Tsujikawa, A., Murakami, T., Yamaike, N., Sakamoto, A., Kotera, Y., Miyamoto, K., Kita, M., Yoshimura, N., 2008b. Foveal photoreceptor layer in eyes with persistent cystoid macular edema associated with branch retinal vein occlusion. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 145, 273–280.
- Ota, M., Nishijima, K., Sakamoto, A., Murakami, T., Takayama, K., Horii, T., Yoshimura, N., 2010a. Optical coherence tomographic evaluation of foveal hard exudates in patients with diabetic maculopathy accompanying macular detachment. Ophthalmology 117, 1996–2002.

- Ota, M., Tsujikawa, A., Miyamoto, K., Sakamoto, A., Murakami, T., Yoshimura, N., 2010b. Visual acuity following intravitreal bevacizumab for macular edema associated with retinal vein occlusion. Jpn. J. Ophthalmol. 54, 555–564.
- Otani, T., Kishi, S., 2000. Tomographic assessment of vitreous surgery for diabetic macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 129, 487–494.
- Otani, T., Kishi, S., 2001. Tomographic findings of foveal hard exudates in diabetic macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 131, 50–54.
- Otani, T., Kishi, S., 2007. Correlation between optical coherence tomography and fluorescein angiography findings in diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 114, 104–107.
- Otani, T., Kishi, S., Maruyama, Y., 1999. Patterns of diabetic macular edema with optical coherence tomography. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 127, 688–693.
- Otani, T., Yamaguchi, Y., Kishi, S., 2010. Improved visualization of henle fiber layer by changing the measurement beam angle on optical coherence tomography. Retina, Nov 22 [Epub ahead of print].
- Ozdemir, H., Karacorlu, M., Karacorlu, S., 2005a. Serous macular detachment in diabetic cystoid macular oedema. Acta Ophthalmol. Scand. 83, 63–66.
- Ozdemir, H., Karacorlu, M., Karacorlu, S.A., 2005b. Regression of serous macular detachment after intravitreal triamcinolone acetonide in patients with diabetic macular edema. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 140, 251–255.
- Patel, J.I., Hykin, P.G., Schadt, M., Luong, V., Bunce, C., Fitzke, F., Gregor, Z.J., 2006. Diabetic macular oedema: pilot randomised trial of pars plana vitrectomy vs macular argon photocoagulation. Eye 20, 873–881.
- Patel, P., Chen, F., Rubin, G., Tufail, A.T., 2009a. Intersession repeatability of contrast sensitivity scores in age-related macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 2621– 2625.
- Patel, P.J., Chen, F.K., da Cruz, L., Tufail, A.T., 2009b. Segmentation error in Stratus optical coherence tomography for neovascular agerelated macular degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 399–404.
- Piccolino, F.C., de la Longrais, R.R., Ravera, G., Eandi, C.M., Ventre, L., Abdollahi, A., Manea, M., 2005. The foveal photoreceptor layer and visual acuity loss in central serous chorioretinopathy. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 139, 87–99.
- Robison, C., Krebs, I., Binder, S., Barbazetto, I., Kotsolis, A., Yannuzzi, L., Sadun, A., Sebag, J., 2009. Vitreomacular adhesion in active and end-stage age-related macular degeneration. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 148, 79–82.e2.
- Roesel, M., Heimes, B., Heinz, C., Henschel, A., Spital, G., Heiligenhaus, A., 2009. Comparison of retinal thickness and fundus-related microperimetry with visual acuity in uveitic macular oedema. Acta Ophthalmol. [Epub ahed of print].
- Rohrschneider, K., Bültmann, S., Springer, C., 2008. Use of fundus perimetry (microperimetry) to quantify macular sensitivity. Prog. Ret. Eye Res. 27, 536–548.
- Roquet, W., Roudot-Thoraval, F., Coscas, G., Soubrane, G., 2004. Clinical features of drusenoid pigment epithelial detachment in age related macular degeneration. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 88, 638– 642.
- Rosenfeld, P.J., Brown, D.M., Heier, J.S., Boyer, D.S., Kaiser, P.K., Chung, C.Y., Kim, R.Y., Group, M.S., 2006. Ranibizumab for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. N. Engl. J. Med. 355, 1419–1431.
- Rosenfeld, P.J., Shapiro, H., Tuomi, L., Webster, M., Elledge, J., Blodi, B., Groups, MARINA and ANCHOR Study, 2010. Characteristics of patients losing vision after 2 years of monthly dosing in the Phase III Ranibizumab Clinical Trials. Ophthalmology, Oct 2 [Epub ahead of print].
- Sadda, S.R., Wu, Z., Walsh, A.C., Richine, L., Dougall, J., Cortez, R., LaBree, L.D., 2006. Errors in retinal thickness measurements

obtained by optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 113, 285–293.

- Sayanagi, K., Sharma, S., Kaiser, P., 2009. Photoreceptor status after anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapy in exudative agerelated macular degeneration. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 93, 622– 626.
- Schuman, J.S., Puliafito, C.A., Fujimoto, J.G., 2004. Optical Coherence Tomography of Ocular Diseases, second ed. Slack Inc..
- Schuman, S., Koreishi, A., Farsiu, S., Jung, S., Izatt, J., Toth, C., 2009. Photoreceptor layer thinning over drusen in eyes with age-related macular degeneration imaged in vivo with spectral-domain optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology 116, 488–496.e2.
- Schütze, C., Ahlers, C., Sacu, S., Mylonas, G., Sayegh, R., Golbaz, I., Matt, G., Stock, G., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., 2010. Performance of OCT segmentation procedures to assess morphology and extension in geographic atrophy. Acta Ophthalmol., Jul 15 [Epub ahead of print].
- Scott, I., Vanveldhuisen, P., Oden, N., Ip, M., Blodi, B., Jumper, J., Figueroa, M., 2009. SCORE Study Investigator Group, SCORE Study Report 1: baseline associations between central retinal thickness and visual acuity in patients with retinal vein occlusion. Ophthalmology 116, 504–512.
- Shinojima, A., Hirose, T., Mori, R., Kawamura, A., Yuzawa, M., 2010. Morphologic findings in acute central serous chorioretinopathy using spectral domain-optical coherence tomography with simultaneous angiography. Retina 30, 193–202.
- Smiddy, W.E., 2009. Economic implications of current age-related macular degeneration treatments. Ophthalmology 116, 481– 487.
- Spaide, R.F., 2009. Enhanced depth imaging optical coherence tomography of retinal pigment epithelial detachment in age-related macular degeneration. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 147, 644–652.
- Spaide, R.F., Curcio, C.A., 2010. Drusen characterization with multimodal imaging. Retina 30, 1441–1454.
- Spaide, R.F., Lee, J.K., Klancnik, J.K., Gross, N.E., 2003. Optical coherence tomography of branch retinal vein occlusion. Retina 23, 343–347.
- Spaide, R.F., Laud, K., Fine, H.F., Klancnik, J.M., Meyerle, C.B., Yannuzzi, L.A., Sorenson, J., Slakter, J., Fisher, Y.L., Cooney, M.J., 2006. Intravitreal bevacizumab treatment of choroidal neovascularization secondary to age-related macular degeneration. Retina 26, 383–390.
- Spaide, R.F., Koizumi, H., Pozonni, M.C., 2008. Enhanced depth imaging spectral-domain optical coherence tomography. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 146, 496–500.
- Spitznas, M., 1986. Pathogenesis of central serous retinopathy: a new working hypothesis. Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 224, 321–324.
- Srinivasan, V.J., Monson, B.K., Wojtkowski, M., Bilonick, R.A., Gorczynska, I., Chen, R., Duker, J.S., Schuman, J.S., Fujimoto, J.G., 2008. Characterization of outer retinal morphology with highspeed, ultrahigh-resolution optical coherence tomography. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49, 1571–1579.
- Sunness, J.S., 1999. The natural history of geographic atrophy, the advanced atrophic form of age-related macular degeneration. Mol. Vis. 5, 25.
- Sunness, J.S., 2006. Choroidal neovascularisation and atrophy. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 90, 398–399.
- Sunness, J.S., Margalit, E., Srikumaran, D., Applegate, C.A., Tian, Y., Perry, D., Hawkins, B.S., Bressler, N.M., 2007. The long-term natural history of geographic atrophy from age-related macular degeneration: enlargement of atrophy and implications for interventional clinical trials. Ophthalmology 114, 271–277.
- Thomas, D., Bunce, C., Moorman, C., Laidlaw, D.A.H., 2005. A randomised controlled feasibility trial of vitrectomy versus laser for diabetic macular oedema. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 89, 81–86.

- Ting, T.D., Oh, M., Cox, T.A., Meyer, C.H., Toth, C.A., 2002. Decreased visual acuity associated with cystoid macular edema in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Arch. Ophthalmol. 120, 731–737.
- Tran, T.H.C., de Smet, M.D., Bodaghi, B., Fardeau, C., Cassoux, N., Lehoang, P., 2008. Uveitic macular oedema: correlation between optical coherence tomography patterns with visual acuity and fluorescein angiography. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 92, 922–927.
- Traustason, S., Hardarson, S.H., Gottfredsdottir, M.S., Eysteinsson, T., Karlsson, R.A., Stefánsson, E., Harris, A., 2009. Dorzolamide– timolol combination and retinal vessel oxygen saturation in patients with glaucoma or ocular hypertension. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 93, 1064–1067.
- Tufail, A.T., Patel, P.J., Egan, C., Hykin, P., da Cruz, L., Gregor, Z., Dowler, J., Majid, M.A., Bailey, C., Mohamed, Q., Johnston, R., Bunce, C., Xing, W., Investigators, A.T., 2010. Bevacizumab for neovascular age related macular degeneration (ABC Trial): multicentre randomised double masked study. BMJ 340, c2459.
- Wang, M., Sander, B., la Cour, M., Larsen, M., 2005. Clinical characteristics of subretinal deposits in central serous chorioretinopathy. Acta Ophthalmol. Scand. 83, 691–696.
- Wang, M., Munch, I.C., Hasler, P.W., Prünte, C., Larsen, M., 2008. Central serous chorioretinopathy. Acta Ophthalmol. 86, 126– 145.
- Weingessel, B., Sacu, S., Vécsei-Marlovits, P., Weingessel, A., Richter-Mueksch, S., Schmidt-Erfurth, U., 2009. Interexaminer and intraexaminer reliability of the microperimeter MP-1. Eye 23, 1052–1058.
- Wolf-Schnurrbusch, U.E.K., Enzmann, V., Brinkmann, C.K., Wolf, S., 2008. Morphologic changes in patients with geographic atrophy assessed with a novel spectral OCT–SLO combination. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49, 3095–3099.
- Yamaike, N., Tsujikawa, A., Ota, M., Sakamoto, A., Kotera, Y., Kita, M., Miyamoto, K., Yoshimura, N., Hangai, M., 2008. Threedimensional imaging of cystoid macular edema in retinal vein occlusion. Ophthalmology 115, 355–362.e2.
- Yannuzzi, L.A., 1987. Type-A behavior and central serous chorioretinopathy. Retina 7, 111–131.
- Yannuzzi, L.A., Ober, M.D., Slakter, J.S., Spaide, R.F., Fisher, Y.L., Flower, R.W., Rosen, R., 2004. Ophthalmic fundus imaging: today and beyond. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 137, 511–524.
- Yasuno, Y., Miura, M., Kawana, K., Makita, S., Sato, M., Okamoto, F., Yamanari, M., Iwasaki, T., Yatagai, T., Oshika, T., 2009. Visualization of sub-retinal pigment epithelium morphologies of exudative macular diseases by high-penetration optical coherence tomography. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 405–413.
- Yehoshua, Z., Rosenfeld, P.J., Gregori, G., Feuer, W.J., Falcão, M., Lujan, B.J., Puliafito, C., 2010a. Progression of geographic atrophy in age-related macular degeneration imaged with spectral domain optical coherence tomography. Ophthalmology, Oct 28 [Epub ahead of print].
- Yehoshua, Z., Rosenfeld, P.J., Gregori, G., Penha, F., 2010b. Spectral domain optical coherence tomography imaging of dry age-related macular degeneration. Ophthal. Surg. Lasers Imaging 41, S6–S14.
- Yeung, L., Lima, V., Garcia, P., Landa, G., Rosen, R., 2009. Correlation between spectral domain optical coherence tomography findings and fluorescein angiography patterns in diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 116, 1158–1167.
- Zarbin, M.A., Rosenfeld, P.J., 2010. Pathway-based therapies for agerelated macular degeneration: an integrated survey of emerging treatment alternatives. Retina 30, 1350–1367.
- Zweifel, S.A., Engelbert, M., Laud, K., Margolis, R., Spaide, R.F., Freund, K.B., 2009. Outer retinal tubulation: a novel optical coherence tomography finding. Arch. Ophthalmol. 127, 1596–1602.